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MFEC PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010
1.
GENERAL INFORMATION

(a)     
Legal status and address       



MFEC Public Company Limited is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. 

                  
The address of its registered office is as follows :                   


                        
699 Modernform Tower, Srinakarind Road, Suan Luang, Bangkok.


(b)    
Nature of the Company’s business

Its principal activities are sales of computer, computer system, program development and provision of related services.

(c)     
Expenses by nature

                 
Significant expenses by nature are follow:

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the three-month periods 

ended June 30,
	
	For the three-month periods 

ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Changes in cost of works pending installation 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	      and work in process
	146,366
	
	(50,317)
	
	126,989
	
	(16,035)

	Purchase of inventories
	907,358
	
	329,943
	
	818,318
	
	200,293

	Maintenance expenses  
	54,335
	
	55,091
	
	51,605
	
	52,208

	Program development service expenses
	9,010
	
	7,299
	
	8,798
	
	6,840

	System implementation service expenses
	235
	
	4,537
	
	235
	
	4,537

	Employee costs
	162,924
	
	128,982
	
	123,841
	
	108,366

	Depreciation and amortization
	9,743
	
	6,445
	
	8,315
	
	5,761

	Gain (loss) on exchange rate
	(6,556)
	
	325
	
	(9,749)
	
	204


	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the six-month periods 
ended June 30,
	
	For the six-month periods 
ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Changes in work in process and cost of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	      works pending installation
	229,392
	
	(51,034)
	
	208,170
	
	(25,427)

	Purchase of inventories
	1,475,622
	
	759,188
	
	1,250,425
	
	520,332

	Maintenance expenses  
	122,871
	
	109,426
	
	117,087
	
	103,817

	Program development service expenses
	12,897
	
	14,366
	
	12,682
	
	13,862

	System implementation service expenses
	1,284
	
	18,882
	
	1,284
	
	18,882

	Employee costs
	276,404
	
	243,127
	
	219,981
	
	201,398

	Depreciation and amortization
	19,270
	
	12,330
	
	16,110
	
	10,963

	Gain (loss) on exchange rate
	(6,613)
	
	835
	
	(6,506)
	
	742



Employee costs

The staff cost was consisted of salary, bonus, welfare, social security and contribution to provident fund and other benefits.

2.
PRINCIPLES OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATIONS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MFEC Public Company 
Limited and the following subsidiaries which are owned directly and indirectly by the Company.
	
	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010
	
	

	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	

	
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	

	Company’s name
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	Principal activities

	Subsidiaries held by the Company
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
	60.00
	
	15.00
	
	60.00
	
	15.00
	
	Creates entertainment media for electronics devices

	4Bizinet Company Limited 
	
	-
	
	58.00
	
	-
	
	58.00
	
	Design, production and sale of computer and   

	(Ceased of control as selling of investment in May 2010)
	
	
	
	internet application

	Advance Intelligence Modernity 
	
	51.00
	
	6.50
	
	51.00
	
	6.50
	
	Development and sale of computer software, 

	  Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	particularly entertainment media

	Modernform Integration Services 
	
	99.99
	
	64.10
	
	99.99
	
	64.10
	
	Sale of computer and provision of related services

	  Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	
	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010
	
	

	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	

	
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	

	Company’s name
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	Principal activities

	Subsidiaries held by Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	
	

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	80.00
	
	5.00
	
	80.00
	
	5.00
	
	Personnel recruitment and IT system maintenance 

	Additional subsidiaries held by the Company since June 1, 2011
	
	
	
	

	Business Applications Company Limited
	99.99
	
	10.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Selling and developing computer programs, including the relevant services.

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	99.99
	
	80.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Being a consultant for designing the network systems and developing computer programs.

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems and developing computer programs.

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Principally engaged in the software business and received the investment promotion.

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems and computer programming.

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming, model development and website designing services.

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	3.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Principally engaged in the software business and received the investment promotion.

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	30.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming and selling the computer equipment.

	Subsidiaries held by Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming and data processing services by computer.

	
	
	


Significant change in the subsidiaries in during period 2011

1)
According to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders No.1/2011 dated April 25, 2011, it had the resolution to approve the acquisition and transfer the entire business of Magus Company Limited and Northern Star Software Company Limited.  The Company had completely acquired and received the entire business transfer on June 1, 2011.


The Company had offered for sale and allocated the ordinary shares for capital increase totalling 155,115,104 shares at the offering price Baht 5.10 per share at par value of Baht 1 per share to Magus Company Limited in the amount of 96,618,615 shares and Northern Star Software Company Limited in the amount of 58,496,489 shares, totalling Baht 791,087,030 instead of paying by cash.  On June 1, 2011, the Company had received cash in total of Baht 4.3 million and entire business of Magus Company Limited and Northern Star Software Company Limited consisting of the ordinary shares in many companies and other assets as remuneration from the acquisition and entire business transfer. As such, upon the entire business transfer, Magus Company Limited and Northern Star Software Company Limited had registered for the business dissolution and liquidation.


The details of the ordinary shares in the companies that MFEC Public Company Limited is a shareholder and were considered as the subsidiaries of the Company since June 1, 2011 are as follows:

	Name of subsidiaries
	Quantity of shares (Shares)
	Par value 

(Baht per share)
	Percentage of shareholding 

	Business Applications Company Limited
	99,997
	100
	99.99

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	79,999,900
	1
	99.99

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	49,998
	100
	99.99

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	49,998
	100
	99.99

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	49,998
	100
	99.99

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	49,998
	100
	99.99

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	29,998
	100
	99.99

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	299,998
	100
	99.99

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited 

(the subsidiary is owned indirectly by Soft 
Square 1999 Company Limited)
	49,998
	100
	99.99


2)
The net assets of the subsidiaries are stated at fair value as at the date of acquisition and transfer the business consisted of the following:

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
Assets
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	10,212

	Short-term investments
	10,108

	Trade accounts receivable
	134,615

	Accrued income
	85,981

	Pledged deposits
	43,638

	Property, plant and equipment
	56,989

	Other assets
	38,357

	
Total assets
	379,900

	
Liabilities
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans
	27,535

	Trade accounts payable
	40,656

	Provisions
	12,573

	Current liabilities
	75,373

	Other liabilities 

	1,718

	
Total liabilities
	157,855

	Total net assets
	222,045

	Net assets is stated at  fair value
	222,045

	Purchase consideration - ordinary shares issued from capital increase  
	791,087

	Less:  Cash receipt and other assets from the transfer of business
	(4,836)

	Goodwill
	546,206





Significant change in the subsidiaries in during period 2010
1)
During the second quarter of 2010, there was a change to the shareholding structure of 4Bizinet Company Limited, a subsidiary held by MFEC Public Company Limited. The Company sold all of the ordinary shares to 4Bizinet Company Limited, in May 2010 (as discussed in Note 14 to the interim financial statements).
2.2  
The percentage of total assets and total revenues of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 

	
	Percentage of total 
	
	Percentage of total revenues included
	
	Percentage of total revenues included

	
	assets included
	
	in consolidated the statements of
	
	in consolidated the statements 

	
	in consolidated the statements
	
	comprehensive income for
	
	of comprehensive income 

	
	of financial position as at
	
	the three-month periods ended
	
	for the six-month periods ended

	
	June
	
	December
	
	June
	
	June
	
	June
	
	June

	
	30, 2011
	
	31, 2010
	
	30, 2011
	
	30, 2010
	
	30, 2011
	
	30, 2010

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Promptnow Company Limited
	0.73
	
	1.65
	
	0.04
	
	0.16
	
	0.21
	
	0.35

	4Bizinet Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	0.31
	
	0.53
	
	0.05
	
	0.04
	
	0.05
	
	0.10

	Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	4.66
	
	6.82
	
	-
	
	2.99
	
	14.74
	
	21.26

	Business Applications Company Limited
	2.64
	
	-
	
	0.89
	
	-
	
	0.89
	
	-

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	4.88
	
	-
	
	1.23
	
	-
	
	1.23
	
	-

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	0.26
	
	-
	
	0.08
	
	-
	
	0.08
	
	-

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	0.36
	
	-
	
	0.12
	
	-
	
	0.12
	
	-

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	0.20
	
	-
	
	0.03
	
	-
	
	0.03
	
	-

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	0.13
	
	-
	
	0.03
	
	-
	
	0.03
	
	-

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	0.08
	
	-
	
	0.04
	
	-
	
	0.04
	
	-

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	2.01
	
	-
	
	0.32
	
	-
	
	0.32
	
	-

	Subsidiaries held by Modernform Integration Services 

Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	     M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	0.54
	
	1.43
	
	-
	
	0.34
	
	1.19
	
	2.21

	Subsidiaries held by Soft Square 1999 

Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited
	0.29
	
	-
	
	0.10
	
	-
	
	0.10
	
	-



2.3

Outstanding balances between the Company and the subsidiaries, significant intercompany
transactions, investment balance in the Company’s books and share capital of the subsidiaries are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

2.4
Investments in subsidiaries (at cost) and fair value of the subsidiaries at the date of acquisition have been offset and the difference there of has been shown as asset under the heading of “Goodwill” and to consider impairment loss.
2.5
The accounting policies of the subsidiaries for similar accounting transactions are the same as MFEC Public Company Limited.
3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1
Basis for the preparation of interim financial statements 




The interim consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standard No. 34 (revised 2009) “Interim Financial Reporting” and the announcement of the Stock Exchange of Thailand  Accounting. These interim financial statements are prepared as additional financial statement information with the emphasis on the more current information about new activities, events, and situations and not intended to re-emphasis on the information previously reported. The interim financial statements should therefore, be read in conjunction with the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.



The interim financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory interim financial statements of the Company. The interim financial statements in English language have been translated from such interim financial statements in Thai language.




The interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies. 


3.2
Significant accounting policies




The interim consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with Thai generally accepted accounting principles under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 and presented accordingly to the Instruction of the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce, for Public Limited Company.




The Company and its subsidiaries prepared the interim financial statements with the same accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010, except for the accounting policy changed by the adoption of new accounting standard in this year as specified in Note 3.4.


3.3
New accounting standards and financial reporting standards effective for using in this year.



During the years 2010 and 2011, the Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) has issued Notifications to mandate the use of the revised 2009, new issued of accounting standards, financial reporting standards and the interpretations of which they are effective for using in the periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011, as follows.




Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2009)




TAS  1 (revised 2009) Presentation of Financial Statements






TAS  2  (revised 2009) Inventories






TAS  7  (revised 2009) Statement of Cash Flows






TAS  8  (revised 2009) Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors





TAS 10 (revised 2009) Events after the Reporting Period






TAS 11 (revised 2009) Construction Contracts






TAS 16 (revised 2009) Property, Plant and Equipment








TAS 17 (revised 2009) Leases







TAS 18 (revised 2009) Revenue







TAS 19 Employee Benefits








TAS 23 (revised 2009)
Borrowing Costs







TAS 24 (revised 2009)
Related Party Disclosures








TAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 







TAS 27 (revised 2009)
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 





TAS 28 (revised 2009)
Investments in Associates







TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 







TAS 31 (revised 2009)
Interests in Joint Ventures







TAS 33 (revised 2009)
Earnings per Share







TAS 34 (revised 2009)
Interim Financial Reporting







TAS 36 (revised 2009)
Impairment of Assets







TAS 37 (revised 2009)
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets







TAS 38 (revised 2009)
Intangible Assets







TAS 40 (revised 2009)
Investment Property







TFRS 2  Share-based Payment







TFRS 3 (revised 2009)
Business Combinations







TFRS 5 (revised 2009)
Non-current Assets Held for sale and Discontinued Operations






TFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources





TFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate





TSIC 31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services





   

The management of the Company has assessed the effect of these accounting standards and financial reporting standards and believes that they will not have any significant impact on the financial statements for this year.  However, TAS 1 (revised 2009) Presentation of Financial Statements,  TAS 16 (revised 2009) Property, Plant and Equipment, TAS 19 Employee Benefits of which the Company has adopted of using in this year, have the effects of changes in the Company’s accounting policies as disclosed in Note 3.4. These changes of accountings policies mostly affect to the presentation of financial statements in new format and prospective adjustment, except for the accounting standards of Employee Benefits which the Company has choosed the adoption by adjusting to the beginning retained earnings in full amount.


3.4
Changes in accounting policies


From January 1, 2011, consequent to the adoption of new and revised TFRS as set out in note 3.3, the Company has changed its accounting policies as follows :


TAS 1 (revised 2009) Presentation of Financial Statements




Under the revised TAS, a set of financial statements comprises :




Statement of financial position;




Statement of comprehensive income;




Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity;




Statement of cash flows; and




Notes to the financial statements.


TAS 16 (revised 2009) Property, Plant and Equipment



Under the revised TAS, there are the principal changes and affecting the Company as follows:


1.
Costs of asset dismantlement, removal and restoration have to be included as asset 
costs and subject to annual depreciation;


2.
The depreciation charge has to be determined separately for each significant part of 
an asset;


3.
In determining the depreciable amount, the residual value of an item of assets has to be measured at the amount estimated receivable currently for the asset if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Furthermore, the residual value and useful life of an asset have to be reviewed at least at each financial year-end.





The changes have been applied prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions of the revised TAS, except that consideration of the costs of asset dismantlement, removal and restoration, have been applied retrospectively.


TAS 19 Employee Benefits.



Under the new policy, the Company has the obligations in respect of the severance payments to employees upon retirement under the Company’s article and labour law. The Company treats these severance payment obligation as a defined benefit plan. Previously, this obligation was recognized as occurred. The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified independent actuary, using the projected unit credit method. Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, staff turnover rate, mortality rate and inflation rates.



The Company has ocpted to record the entire amount of this liability as an adjustment to retained earning as at  January 1, 2011, in accordance with the transitional provisions of TAS 19.

4.
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES DUE TO ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 


From January 1, 2011, consequent to the adoption of new and revised TFRS, the Company and its subsidiaries have affected to the financial statements as follows:


Adjustment of financial statements

The statements of financial position as at June 30, 2011
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial 

Statement

	Retained earnings at January 1, 2011 - as previous reported
	188,038
	
	148,651

	Increase in employee benefit obligations
	(19,606)
	
	(15,965)

	Decrease in non-controlling interests
	(138)
	
	-

	Retained earnings at January 1, 2011 - after adjustment
	168,294
	
	132,686



Statements of comprehensive income for the three-month period ended June 30, 2011

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial 

Statement

	Increase in employee benefit expenses resulting in:
	
	
	

	
Increase in cost of sales and services
	444
	
	276

	
Increase in selling expenses
	34
	
	-

	
Increase in administrative expenses
	813
	
	590

	
Increase in management benefit expenses
	351
	
	342

	
Interest on obligation
	129
	
	48

	Decrease in total comprehensive income for the period
	1,771
	
	1,256

	Decrease in profit attributable to non-controlling interests
	19
	
	1,256

	Decrease in profit attributable to shareholders’ equity of the 
	
	
	

	
parent company
	1,760
	
	-

	
	
	
	

	Decrease in earnings per share;
	
	
	

	- Decrease in basic earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.006
	
	0.004

	- Decrease in diluted earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.006
	
	0.004



Statements of comprehensive income for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial 

Statement

	Increase in employee expenses resulting in:
	
	
	

	
Increase in cost of sales and services
	768
	
	551

	
Increase in selling expenses
	60
	
	-

	
Increase in administrative expenses
	1,618
	
	1,180

	
Increase in management benefit expenses
	694
	
	685

	
Interest on obligation
	190
	
	97

	Decrease in total comprehensive income for the period
	3,330
	
	2,513

	Decrease in profit attributable to non-controlling interests
	38
	
	2,513

	Decrease in profit attributable to shareholders’ equity of the
	3,292
	
	-

	
parent company
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Decrease in earnings per share;
	
	
	

	- Decrease in basic earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.012
	
	0.009

	- Decrease in diluted earnings per share (Baht per share)
	0.012
	
	0.009


5.
ISSUE OF NEW INTERPRETATION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS DURING THE YEAR


During the year 2011, the Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) has issued Notifications to mandate the use of the new interpretations of accounting standards of which are effective for the fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2013, as follows:
TSIC 
10
Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities
TSIC 
21
Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non - Depreciable Assets

TSIC 
25
Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders



The management of the Company has assessed the effect of these new interpretations of  accounting standards and believes that they will not have any significant impact on the financial statements for the year in which they are initially applied.
6.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS


During the period, the Company had significant business transactions with its subsidiaries (which 
have already been eliminated in the preparation of interim consolidated financial statements) and related 
companies (related by ways of common shareholders and/or common directors). These transactions 
follow the trade terms and rules agreed between the Company and those companies in the normal course 
of business.  Related party transactions are summarized below: 
	
	Million Baht
	

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement
	
	

	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,
	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,
	
	Pricing policy

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	

	Transactions with subsidiaries: 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	      -
	
	      -
	
	0.59
	
	0.14
	
	Close to market price

	   
Purchases of goods and services
	      -
	
	      -
	
	1.46
	
	3.57
	
	Close to market price

	   
Guarantee fee income
	      -
	
	      -
	
	-
	
	0.01
	
	1 percent per annum

	   
Interest income
	      -
	
	      -
	
	0.23
	
	0.21
	
	MLR-0.75% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2011 : 5.625-6.125 percent per annum)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2010 : 5.125-6.125 percent per annum)

	Transactions with related companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	9.91
	
	0.52
	
	0.36
	
	0.51
	
	Close to market price

	  
Purchases of goods and services
	0.06
	
	0.09
	
	0.06
	
	0.09
	
	Close to market price

	
Purchases of office equipment
	-
	
	0.08
	
	-
	
	0.08
	
	Close to market price

	
Rental and related service expenses
	3.49
	
	3.43
	
	1.66
	
	1.63
	
	Market price adjusted with agreed upon discount


	
	Million Baht
	

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement
	
	

	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,
	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,
	
	Pricing policy

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	

	Transactions with subsidiaries: 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	      -
	
	      -
	
	0.73
	
	0.27
	
	Close to market price

	   
Purchases of goods and services
	      -
	
	      -
	
	2.17
	
	5.55
	
	Close to market price

	   
Guarantee fee income
	      -
	
	      -
	
	0.01
	
	0.02
	
	1 percent per annum

	   
Interest income
	      -
	
	      -
	
	0.45
	
	0.44
	
	MLR-0.75% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2011 : 5.625-6.125percent per annum)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2010 : 5.125-6.125 percent per annum)

	Transactions with related companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	10.33
	
	1.27
	
	0.45
	
	1.06
	
	Close to market price

	  
Purchases of goods and services
	0.13
	
	0.27
	
	0.13
	
	0.27
	
	Close to market price

	
Purchases of office equipment
	-
	
	0.34
	
	-
	
	0.34
	
	Close to market price

	
Rental and related service expenses
	7.63
	
	7.52
	
	3.62
	
	3.56
	
	Market price adjusted with agreed upon discount


	
	Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	Separate Financial Statements

	
	For the three-month periods 
ended June 30,
	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Management
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Short-term employee benefits
	10.95
	
	10.78
	
	9.08
	
	10.78

	
Post-employment benefits
	2.66
	
	-
	
	0.34
	
	-

	

Total
	13.61
	
	10.78
	
	9.42
	
	10.78


	
	Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	Separate Financial Statements

	
	For the six-month periods 
ended June 30,
	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Management
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Short-term employee benefits
	20.05
	
	18.00
	
	18.05
	
	18.00

	
Post-employment benefits
	3.06
	
	-
	
	0.68
	
	-

	

Total
	23.11
	
	18.00
	
	18.73
	
	18.00



Management benefit expenses



Management benefit expenses represents the benefits paid to the Company’s management 
such as salaries and related benefit including the benefit paid by other means. The Company’s 
management is the persons who are defined under the Securities and Exchange Act.


The outstanding balances of the above transactions are separately shown in the statement as at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 as follows: 

	
	
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	Relationship
	As at 

June
30, 2011
	
	As at 

December

31, 2010
	
	As at 

June
30, 2011
	
	As at 

December

31, 2010

	Amounts Due To Related Parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  
Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	147
	
	717

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	   -
	
	   -
	
	112
	
	104

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	130
	
	   -

	Related Companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Modernform Group Public Company Limited
	Shareholders
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	


	
	And Directors
	   -
	
	11
	
	-
	
	-

	
Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	Shareholders
	31,075
	
	   -
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	
	31,075
	
	11
	
	389
	
	821

	Short-Term Loans To Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  
Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
	-
	
	   -
	
	-
	
	9,300

	  
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	-
	
	   -
	
	6,070
	
	6,070

	
	
	
	-
	
	   -
	
	6,070
	
	15,370

	
Less: Reserve For Loss Of  Investment In                                     
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
         Subsidiaries  (Note 14)
	
	
	-
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	(2,439)

	
	
	
	-
	
	   -
	
	6,070
	
	12,931

	Long-Term Loans To Related Parties 
	
	Shareholders
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Of Subsidiaries
	9,920
	
	10,120
	
	9,920
	
	10,120

	Other Non-Current Assets - Deposit
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Related Company:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Modernform Tower Company Limited
	
	Shareholders
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	And Directors
	3,610
	
	3,610
	
	1,541
	
	1,541

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amounts Due From Related Parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	4,025
	
	6,191

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	   -
	
	   -
	
	1,225
	
	900

	
Business Application Company Limited
	   
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	375
	
	   -

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	2,290
	
	   -

	Related Companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Modernform Group Public Company 
	
	Shareholders
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Limited
	
	And Directors
	107
	
	587
	
	107
	
	587

	
Modernform Tower Company Limited
	
	Shareholders 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	And Directors
	253
	
	242
	
	137
	
	125

	
	
	
	360
	
	829
	
	8,159
	
	7,803

	Accrued dividend
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	
	Shareholders 
	8,033
	
	   -
	
	   -
	
	   -




Movements of short-term loans to subsidiaries for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	As at December
 31, 2010
	
	Additional 

during period
	
	Repayment

during period 
	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	Type of loans
	
	Due date
	
	Interest rate

	Short-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Promptnow Company Limited
	9,300
	
	-
	
	(9,300)
	
	-
	
	Promissory note
	
	At call
	
	Since 2011 : MLR - 0.75% per annum

	
  Advance Intelligence Modernity
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

  Company Limited
	6,070
	
	-
	
	-
	
	6,070
	
	Promissory note
	
	At call
	
	Since 2011 : MLR - 0.75% per annum




Movements of long-term loans to related parties for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	Additional 

during periods
	
	Repayment

during periods
	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	Relationship 
	
	Due date

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Due within 
one year
	
	 Due more than 
one year
	
	
	
	

	Contract No. 1
	3,374
	
	-
	
	(100)
	
	3,274
	
	-
	
	Shareholders of subsidiaries
	
	within December 1, 2011

	Contract No. 2
	3,373
	
	-
	
	(100)
	
	3,273
	
	-
	
	Shareholders of subsidiaries
	
	within December 1, 2011

	Contract No. 3
	3,373
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,373
	
	-
	
	Shareholders of subsidiaries
	
	within December 1, 2011

	
	10,120
	
	-
	
	(200)
	
	9,920
	
	-
	
	
	
	




Long-term loans to related parties have no interest. 

Guarantee obligations with related parties               


The Company has guarantee obligations from providing guarantee to its related company as described in Note 30.5 to the interim financial statements.
7.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June  

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010
	
	As at June  

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010

	Cash in hand
	402
	
	156
	
	100
	
	100

	Cash at bank - current accounts
	12,029
	
	7,653
	
	11,633
	
	3,232

	Cash at bank - savings accounts 
	60,023
	
	80,662
	
	33,515
	
	50,080

	Cash at bank - fixed deposit - 3 months
	406
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	

Total
	72,860
	
	88,471
	
	45,248
	
	53,412




Savings accounts carry interest at the floating rates which are set by the bank.

8.
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	As at June

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010

	Fixed deposits 5 months
	1,300
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Unit trusts
	15,757
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Add : Allowance for revaluation of investments
	45
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Total unit trusts
	15,802
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Net short-term investments
	17,102
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-


9.
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - NET



The aging of outstanding trade accounts receivable balance as at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 based on due date, is as follows: 
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June
30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	As at June
30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010

	Not yet due
	441,085
	
	248,787
	
	266,378
	
	170,856

	Over due
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   Less than 3 months
	249,468
	
	240,247
	
	214,549
	
	202,193

	   3 - 6 months
	65,508
	
	79,247
	
	22,389
	
	78,371

	   6 - 12 months
	22,021
	
	33,107
	
	20,717
	
	32,397

	   More than 12 months
	28,167
	
	24,145
	
	22,542
	
	23,167

	   Back to back basis
	-
	
	5,794
	
	-
	
	5,794

	Total
	806,249
	
	631,327
	
	546,575
	
	512,778

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
	(11,560)
	
	(13,541)
	
	(6,560)
	
	(12,562)

	Trade accounts receivable - net
	794,689
	
	617,786
	
	540,015
	
	500,216




The movements of the allowance for doubtful debts are as follow :
	
	In  Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010
	
	As at June
30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010

	
	(For the six month)
	
	(For the year)
	
	(For the six month) 
	
	(For the year)

	Allowance for doubtful debts - beginning
	(13,541)
	
	(13,891)
	
	(12,562)
	
	(11,145)

	
Transferred from the acquisition of 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
subsidiaries
	(4,021)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	     Add  Additional allowances
	(2,282)
	
	(1,978)
	
	(2,282)
	
	(1,417)

	     Less  Reversing of allowances
	100
	
	29
	
	100
	
	-

	
Less Transfer out from sale subsidiaries 

           company 
	-
	
	2,299
	
	-
	
	-

	
Less Written off doubtful debts 
	8,184
	
	-
	
	8,184
	
	-

	Allowance for doubtful debts - ending
	(11,560)
	
	(13,541)
	
	(6,560)
	
	(12,562)


The Company gives its general customers a credit term ranging 30-90 days and its subsidiaries give its general customers a credit term of 30 days.
10.
RECEIVABLE UNDER FINANCIAL LEASE AGREEMENTS-NET


As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company has 6, financial leasing agreements providing for a infrastructure system for ICT and equipment and computer service. The payment details are follows :-

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement/Separate Financial Statement (In Thousand Baht)

	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	124,212
	
	11,174
	
	135,386
	
	75,542
	
	9,111
	
	84,653

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	148,849
	
	7,530
	
	156,379
	
	116,744
	
	11,200
	
	127,944

	Total
	273,061
	
	18,704
	
	291,765
	
	192,286
	
	20,311
	
	212,597



As at June 30, 2011, the Company has 6 outstanding financial leasing agreements are as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Baht (excluded VAT)

	
	Outstanding financial lease agreement
	
	Type of financial lease agreement
	
	Term of payment
	
	Amount per

period
	
	Total

financial lease amount

	
	1
	
	Infrastructure system  
	
	Start July 2010
	
	
	
	224,034,604.80

	
	
	
	for ICT service
	
	1-3 year
	
	5,732,971.08
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	4-5 year
	
	735,318.58
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	1
	
	Equipment and Computers
	
	1/10/2009 - 1/9/2014
	
	32,948.33
	
	1,976,900.00

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	1
	
	Equipment SAN Swich
	
	15/8/2010 - 14/8/2015
	
	73,333.34
	
	4,400,000.00

	
	1
	
	Equipment Router
	
	13/1/2011 - 1/1/2014
	
	7,200.00
	
	259,200.00

	
	1
	
	Infrastructure system 
	
	Start July 2010
	
	
	
	5,841,447.46

	
	
	
	for ENCO
	
	1-3 year
	
	141,324.56
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	4-5 year
	
	31,406.82
	
	

	
	1
	
	Network system
	
	1/5/2011 - 30/4/2014
	
	2,631,809.68
	
	94,745,148.35

	
	6
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	




Receivable under financial lease agreements for the portion due within one year was shown under “current assets” in the statements of financial position.
11.
COST OF WORKS PENDING INSTALLATION AND WORK IN PROCESS - NET
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June  

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010
	
	As at June  

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010

	Finished goods
	102,240
	
	81,033
	
	68,464
	
	68,464

	Work in process and prepaid cost of service
	811,615
	
	578,122
	
	807,395
	
	575,362

	Goods in transit
	8,710
	
	31,223
	
	8,648
	
	31,223

	Less: Allowance for obsoleted stock
	(15,807)
	
	(13,012)
	
	(14,152)
	
	(12,864)

	Net
	906,758
	
	677,366
	
	870,355
	
	662,185


12. DEFERRED PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT COSTS - NET

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010

	Deferred program development costs 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Work in process - service
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Work in process of program development game
	93
	
	8,215
	
	-
	
	-

	
Game download program development
	-
	
	715
	
	-
	
	-

	

Net
	93
	
	8,930
	
	-
	
	-




Deferred program development costs has the following movements :

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June 

(for the six months) 30, 2011
	
	As at December 

(for the year) 
31, 2010
	
	As at June 

(for the six months) 30, 2011
	
	As at December 

(for the year) 

31, 2010

	Deferred program development costs - beginning
	8,930
	
	7,051
	
	-
	
	-

	Increase during the periods
	1,054
	
	2,418
	
	-
	
	-

	Less: Amortization 
	-
	
	(539)
	
	-
	
	-

	
Transfer out
	(9,891)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Deferred program development costs - ending
	93
	
	8,930
	
	-
	
	-


13.
PLEDGED DEPOSITS AT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, fixed deposits of three subsidiaries and one subsidiary in the amount of Baht 43.66 million and Baht 0.62 million, respectively. Which are pledged as collateral for bank guarantee, overdrafts and short-term loan from the bank.
14.
INVESTMENTS  IN SUBSIDIARIES 

Investments in subsidiaries were as follows: 

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	
	Paid up capital
	
	Value of investment under
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	Name of subsidiaries
	
	 (Million Baht)
	
	the equity method
	
	Cost method

	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December 

31, 2010

	Promptnow Company Limited
	15.00
	
	15.00
	
	5,608
	
	5,778
	
	9,000
	
	9,000

	Advance Intelligence Modernity 


Company Limited
	6.50
	
	6.50
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,315
	
	3,315

	Modernform Integration Services 


Company Limited
	64.10
	
	64.10
	
	100,071
	
	111,771
	
	96,050
	
	96,050

	Business Applications Company Limited
	10.00
	
	-
	
	201,310
	
	-
	
	200,828
	
	-

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	80.00
	
	-
	
	297,133
	
	-
	
	291,927
	
	-

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	5.00
	
	-
	
	81,032
	
	-
	
	80,441
	
	-

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	5.00
	
	-
	
	20,496
	
	-
	
	20,629
	
	-

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	5.00
	
	-
	
	20,369
	
	-
	
	20,239
	
	-

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	5.00
	
	-
	
	17,944
	
	-
	
	17,795
	
	-

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	3.00
	
	-
	
	10,454
	
	-
	
	10,076
	
	-

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	30.00
	
	-
	
	133,932
	
	-
	
	144,317
	
	-

	   Total 
	
	
	
	
	888,349
	
	117,549
	
	894,617
	
	108,365

	Less :
Loss from impairment of investment in subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(7,900)
	
	(7,900)

	 
Net
	
	
	
	
	
	
	886,717
	
	100,465

	Reserve for capital deficiency loss from investment in 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
subsidiaries 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Promptnow Company Limited 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	2,439

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	2,439

	Presented as : Allowance for doubtful debts (See Note 6)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	(2,439)

	
Net
	
	
	
	
	                
	
	-
	
	-



Significant changes in the investments of the Company during the period 2011

According to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders No.1/2011 on April 25, 2011, it had the 
resolution to approve the acquisition and transfer the entire business of Magus Company Limited 
and Northern Star Software Company Limited.  The Company had completely acquired and received the 
entire business transfer on June 1, 2011.

The Company had received cash in the amount of Baht 4.3 million and the entire business of Magus 
Company Limited and Northern Star Software Company Limited consisting of the ordinary shares in the 
companies and other assets as remuneration from the acquisition and the entire business transfer.

The ordinary shares in the companies that MFEC Public Company Limited is a shareholder and were considered as the subsidiaries of the Company since June 1, 2011. The net assets of the subsidiaries are stated at fair value in the amount of Baht 222.04 million, the Company had issued the ordinary shares for capital increase totalling Baht 791.08 million and received cash and other assets in total of Baht 4.83 million, so that goodwill was in the amount of Baht 564.21 million.


Significant changes in the investments of the Company during the period 2010


In the first quarter 2010, the Company paid the remaining of share capital increase (40% of par value) of a subsidiary amount of Baht 1.8 million.

In the second quarter 2010, the Company’s Board of directors meeting No. 2/2010 , held on May 12, 2010 , the boards approved  to sell all ordinary shares  of  the 4Bizinet  Company Limited in the number of 2,958,000 shares  to directors of 4Bizinet Company Limited at a price of Baht 3 and the Company transferred  the such ordinary  shares on May 31, 2010.  The Company has a gain on sell of the such investment of Baht 1.50 million in the consolidated financial statement. The Company reversed of reserve for loss of investments in subsidiaries amount of Baht 1.43 million shown as other income account in the statement of comprehensive income in separate financial statement.


Movements of goodwill during in the period are as follow :
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	As at June  

30, 2011
(for the six months)
	
	As at December 

31, 2010
(for the year)

	Balance as at beginning
	11,529
	
	11,529

	Increase
	564,206
	
	-

	Decrease
	-
	
	-

	Less : Allowance for impairment of investment
	-
	
	-

	Balance as at ending
	575,735
	
	11,529


15.
LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AND EQUIPMENT - NET 

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	Building
	
	

	
	
	Land
	
	Building
	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	Under
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	system
	
	
	
	construction
	
	

	At cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2010
	
	-
	
	-
	
	22,382
	
	105,704
	
	138,990
	
	23,299
	
	14,405
	
	-
	
	304,780

	
Transferred from the 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
   acquisition of subsidiaries
	
	17,832
	
	33,550
	
	7,560
	
	14,052
	
	49,382
	
	-
	
	14,522
	
	2,827
	
	139,725

	
Acquisitions 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	222
	
	6,708
	
	9,328
	
	5,248
	
	-
	
	-
	
	21,506

	
Disposals 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(613)
	
	(273)
	
	-
	
	(1,284)
	
	-
	
	(2,170)

	
Transfer in (out)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	4,011
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	4,011

	
June 30, 2011
	
	17,832
	
	33,550
	
	30,164
	
	125,851
	
	201,438
	
	28,547
	
	27,643
	
	2,827
	
	467,852


	Accumulated depreciation:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2010
	
	-
	
	-
	
	20,597
	
	77,869
	
	100,087
	
	1,563
	
	13,190
	
	-
	
	213,306

	
Transferred from the 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
   acquisition of subsidiaries
	
	-
	
	11,309
	
	7,272
	
	12,198
	
	39,968
	
	-
	
	11,461
	
	-
	
	82,208

	
Depreciation for the period
	
	-
	
	101
	
	575
	
	5,316
	
	7,775
	
	2,702
	
	374
	
	-
	
	16,843

	
Disposals 
	
	-
	
	-
	-
	-
	
	(597)
	
	(31)
	
	-
	
	(1,284)
	
	-
	
	(1,912)

	
Transfer in (out)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
June 30, 2011
	
	-
	
	11,410
	
	28,444
	
	94,786
	
	147,799
	
	4,265
	
	23,741
	
	-
	
	310,445

	Net book value:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
June 30, 2011
	
	17,832
	
	22,140
	
	1,720
	
	31,065
	
	53,639
	
	24,282
	
	3,902
	
	2,827
	
	157,407

	
December 31, 2010
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,785
	
	27,835
	
	38,903
	
	21,736
	
	1,215
	
	-
	
	91,474




As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, certain equipment of the Company and its subsidiaries have been fully depreciated but still in use. The costs of those assets amounted to Baht 324.70 million and Baht 142.72 million, respectively.


As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries have motor vehicles and office equipment under the financial lease agreements amounted to net book value of Baht 2.00 million and Baht 2.75 million, respectively.    
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	Total

	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	project
	
	
	
	

	At cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2010
	17,476
	
	96,072
	
	130,566
	
	23,299
	
	9,727
	
	277,140

	
Acquisitions 
	221
	
	6,360
	
	7,568
	
	5,249
	
	-
	
	19,398

	
Disposals 
	-
	
	(539)
	
	(272)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(811)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	4,011
	
	-
	
	-
	
	4,011

	
June 30, 2011
	17,697
	
	101,893
	
	141,873
	
	28,548
	
	9,727
	
	299,738


	Accumulated depreciation:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2010
	16,423
	
	70,457
	
	93,895
	
	1,563
	
	8,510
	
	190,848

	
Depreciation for the period
	386
	
	4,745
	
	6,405
	
	2,702
	
	257
	
	14,495

	
Disposals 
	-
	
	(532)
	
	(30)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(562)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
June 30, 2011
	16,809
	
	74,670
	
	100,270
	
	4,265
	
	8,767
	
	204,781

	Net book value:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
June 30, 2011
	888
	
	27,223
	
	41,603
	
	24,283
	
	960
	
	94,957

	
December 31, 2010
	1,053
	
	25,615
	
	36,671
	
	21,736
	
	1,217
	
	86,292




As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, certain equipment of the Company has been fully depreciated but still in use. The costs of those assets amounted to 
Baht 140.06 million and Baht 127.01 million, respectively.



As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company has motor vehicles and office 
equipment under the financial lease agreements amounted to net book value of Baht 2.00 million and 
Baht 2.51 million, respectively.  
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,
	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Depreciation charged to the statements of


comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	5,613
	
	4,009
	
	5,509
	
	3,966

	

Administrative expenses
	3,387
	
	2,075
	
	1,994
	
	1,480

	



Total
	9,000
	
	6,084
	
	7,503
	
	5,446

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the six-month
	
	For the six-month

	
	periods ended June 30,
	
	periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Depreciation charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	9,993
	
	7,622
	
	9,854
	
	7,544

	

Administrative expenses
	6,850
	
	3,989
	
	4,641
	
	2,785

	



Total
	16,843
	
	11,611    
	
	14,495
	
	10,329


16. 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS - NET
	
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	Computer software
	
	Project system

software 
	
	Work in progress - computer software
	
	Work in progress - development of products
	
	Total

	At cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December  31, 2010
	
	15,949
	
	9,744
	
	3,866
	
	16,778
	
	46,337

	Transferred from the       
acquisition of subsidiaries 
	
	1,422
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,422

	Acquisitions
	
	178
	
	-
	
	1,163
	
	6,209
	
	7,550

	Transfer in (out)
	
	9,041
	
	-
	
	-
	
	850
	
	9,891

	June 30, 2011
	
	26,590
	
	9,744
	
	5,029
	
	23,837
	
	65,200

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December  31, 2010
	
	10,799
	
	1,283
	
	-
	
	-
	
	12,082

	Transferred from the       
acquisition of subsidiaries 
	
	1,320
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,320

	Amortization for the period
	
	1,458
	
	969
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,427

	Transfer in (out)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	June 30, 2011
	
	13,577
	
	2,252
	
	-
	
	-
	
	15,829

	Net book value:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	June 30, 2011
	
	13,013
	
	7,492
	
	5,029
	
	23,837
	
	49,371

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December  31, 2010
	
	5,150
	
	8,461
	
	3,866
	
	16,778
	
	34,255


	
	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	Computer software
	
	Software project
	
	Work in progress -

computer software
	
	Work in progress - development of products
	
	Total

	At cost:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2010
	
	11,406
	
	9,744
	
	3,866
	
	1,869
	
	26,885

	Acquisitions
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,163
	
	3,316
	
	4,479

	June 30, 2011
	
	11,406
	
	9,744
	
	5,029
	
	5,185
	
	31,364

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2010
	
	8,240
	
	1,283
	
	-
	
	-
	
	9,523

	Amortization for the period
	
	646
	
	969
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,615

	June 30, 2011
	
	8,886
	
	2,252
	
	-
	
	-
	
	11,138

	Net book value:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	June 30, 2011
	
	2,520
	
	7,492
	
	5,029
	
	5,185
	
	20,226

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December  31, 2010
	
	3,166
	
	8,461
	
	3,866
	
	1,869
	
	17,362


	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,
	
	For the three-month periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Amortization charged to the statements of 
comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	488
	
	-
	
	487
	
	-

	

Administrative expenses
	1,106
	
	344
	
	325
	
	344

	



Total
	1,594
	
	344
	
	812
	
	344


	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the six-month 

periods ended June 30,
	
	For the six-month 

periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Amortization charged to the statements of 
comprehensive income 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	969
	
	-
	
	969
	
	-

	

Administrative expenses
	1,458
	
	703
	
	646
	
	634

	



Total
	2,427
	
	703
	
	1,615
	
	634


17.
BANK OVERDRAFTS AND SHORT-TERM LOANS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS/TRUST RECEIPTS

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June
30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010
	
	As at June
30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010

	Bank overdrafts
	18,084
	
	49,699
	
	258
	
	47,276

	Short-term loans from financial institutions 
	447,000
	
	193,000
	
	379,000
	
	180,000

	
	465,084
	
	242,699
	
	379,258
	
	227,276

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trust receipts
	176,700
	
	170,545
	
	176,700
	
	170,545




As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries had credit lines from bank overdrafts, short-term loans from financial institutions and trust receipts as follows:-

	
	Financial institutions

(Place)
	
	Credit line

(Million Baht)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	As at

June

 30, 2011
	
	As at

 December

 31, 2010
	
	As at

June

 30, 2011
	
	As at

 December

 31, 2010
	
	Interest rate

(percent per annum)
	
	Due date 
	
	Guarantee

	Bank Overdrafts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	7
	
	7
	
	103
	
	103
	
	MOR per annum
	
	Within 1 year 
	
	- Free of mortgage

	   The subsidiaries
	5
	
	2
	
	96
	
	63
	
	MOR per annum

2011 (Rate 6.625 - 8.50
per annum)

2010 (Rate 6.125-8.50 

per annum)
	
	Within 1 year 
	
	- By the subsidiary
   and  director

- By subsidiary’s fixed

   deposits  

-  By the subsidiary’s 

    land and building 


	Short-term loans from financial                       
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  institutions and trust receipts 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	9
	
	9
	
	1,757
	
	1,757
	
	2011 : MLR to MLR-1.45

per annum, Market rate 

per annum 

(Rate 1.44 - 7.50per annum)
	
	At call
	
	Free of mortgage

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2010 : MLR - 1 to 

MLR-1.45 per annum, 

Market rate per annum 

(Rate 1.573 - 4.25 per annum)
	
	
	
	 

	   The subsidiaries
	2
	
	2
	
	115
	
	95
	
	2011 and 2010: MLR-1 , 

Market rate per annum 2011 (Rate 3.50 - 6.37 per annum)

2010 (Rate 2.26- 4.875 per annum)
	
	At call
	
	Credit line 95 million

Free of mortgage

Credit line 20 million

- By the subsidiary’s
   land and building

- By the subsidiary

  and director



The Company and its subsidiaries have to comply with the covenants and adhere to the terms under the bank overdraft and short-term loan agreements, such as not to default on loan payments, not to transfer right or entitlement, not to change type of business unless prior approval is obtained from the lender, not to change the management structure and to name the lender as the beneficiary of the asset protection insurance.     
18.
LIABILITIES UNDER FINANCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 



As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries have liabilities under financial lease agreement were leasing of motor vehicles and office equipment. The payment details are follows :-

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement (In Thousand Baht)

	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	2,492
	
	266
	
	2,758
	
	1,235
	
	90
	
	1,325

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	1,671
	
	97
	
	1,768
	
	1,560
	
	46
	
	1,606

	Total
	4,163
	
	363
	
	4,526
	
	2,795
	
	136
	
	2,931


	
	Separate Financial Statement (In Thousand Baht)

	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	1,269
	
	56
	
	1,325
	
	1,100
	
	82
	
	1,182

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	850
	
	22
	
	872
	
	1,560
	
	46
	
	1,606

	Total
	2,119
	
	78
	
	2,197
	
	2,660
	
	128
	
	2,788




As at June 30, 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries has 13 outstanding financial lease agreements to purchase motor vehicles and office equipment from a local leasing company are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Baht (excluded VAT)

	
	Outstanding financial lease agreement
	
	Type of financial lease agreement
	
	Term of payment
	
	Amount per

period


	
	Total

financial lease amount


	
	Price of purchase options

	The Company
	1
	
	Motor vehicles
	
	48
	
	29,737.38
	
	1,650,291.44
	
	222,897.20

	
	1
	
	Office equipment
	
	60
	
	66,678.95
	
	4,000,736.96
	
	

not fixed

	A subsidiary
	10
	
	Office equipment
	
	36
	
	137,818.15
	
	5,191,029.33
	
	27,015.00

	
	1
	
	Motor vehicles
	
	48
	
	25,014.02
	
	1,185,981.31
	
	118,598.13

	
	13
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	




Under the terms of the lease agreement referred to above, the Company and its subsidiaries shall have the right to purchase the assets upon the expiry of the lease agreement and the Company shall have to comply with certain conditions and restrictions as specified in the lease agreement.



Liabilities under financial lease agreement for the portion due within one year were shown under “current liabilities” in the statements of financial position.
19.
LONG-TERM LOAN - NET

As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries have long-term loan are as follows:


	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010
	
	As at June 

30, 2011
	
	As at December  

31, 2010

	Long-term loan
	126,860
	
	180,000
	
	126,614
	
	180,000

	Less repayment during of the period
	(29,649)
	
	(53,386)
	
	(29,555)
	
	(53,386)

	
	97,211
	
	126,614
	
	97,059
	
	126,614

	Less Current portion
	(60,828)
	
	(59,629)
	
	(60,676)
	
	(59,629)

	Long-term loan - net
	36,383
	
	66,985
	
	36,383
	
	66,985

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


The Company

Long-term loan is loan from a business partner. The loan is repayable of principal and interest in 36 monthly installments of Baht 5.26 million each, from February 2010 to January 2013. The Company carried interest rate at 3.49% per annum and free of mortgage.

Subsidiary


On March 3, 2008, a subsidiary had entered into the long-term loan agreement with the same 
commercial bank in the credit facilities of Baht 4 million, which was drawn in the full credit with the 
interest rate at MLR per annum. The repayment of the principal and interest at Baht 96,000.00 per month 
for 4 years (48 installments). The first installment was in March 2008 and the last installment was in 
February 2012. 



The such loans were secured by the land and buildings of the Company and directors.
20.
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS



The Company and its subsidiaries adopted TAS 19 Employee Benefits with effect from January 1, 2011 and the effect on the interim financial statements is disclosed in note 4.


The statements of financial position

	
	 In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial 
Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial 

Statement

	Defined benefit obligations as at January 1, 2011
	19,744
	
	15,965

	Transferred from the acquisition of subsidiaries
	12,573
	
	-

	Current Service costs and interest
	3,330
	
	2,513

	Defined benefit obligations as at June 30, 2011
	35,647
	
	18,478




Expense recognized in the statements of comprehensive income
	
	In Thousand Baht

	For the three-month period ended June 30, 2011
	Consolidated Financial 
Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial 
Statement

	Current service costs
	
	
	

	Cost of sales and services
	444
	
	276

	Selling expenses
	34
	
	-

	Administrative expenses
	813
	
	590

	Management benefit expenses 
	351
	
	342

	Interest on obligation
	129
	
	48

	Total
	1,771
	
	1,256


	
	In Thousand Baht

	For the six-month period ended June 30, 2011
	Consolidated Financial 
Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial 
Statement

	Current service costs
	
	
	

	Cost of sales and services
	768
	
	551

	Selling expenses
	60
	
	-

	Administrative expenses
	1,618
	
	1,180

	Management benefit expenses 
	694
	
	685

	Interest on obligation
	190
	
	97

	Total
	3,330
	
	2,513




The main assumptions in the assessment financial assumptions 
	
	Percentage

	
	Consolidated Financial 
Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial 

Statement

	Discount rate
	3.8466 - 4.4152
	
	3.8466

	Salary increase rate
	4.00 - 7.00
	
	5.00

	Employee turnover rate
	0 - 38.00
	
	0 - 14.00

	Mortality rate
	Table of death B.E.2008
	
	Table of death B.E.2008


21.
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has an appropriate financial structure and preserves the ability to continue its business as a going concern.

According to the separate statements of financial position as at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company’s debt-to-equity ratio was 1.16: 1 and 1.52:1, respectively.


According to the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries’s debt-to-equity ratio was 1.33: 1 and 1.54: 1, respectively.
22.
SHARE CAPITAL

At the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on April 25, 2011, the shareholders had unanimously approved to decrease the share capital from Baht 286,850,000 to Baht 286,185,451 by canceling 664,549 shares authorized but unissued ordinary shares, With a par value at Baht 1 per share, which are registered shares of the company authorized and allocated for exercising the warrant but have not been exercised. The company has already registered with Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on April 28, 2011.


At the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on April 25, 2011, the shareholders had unanimously approved to increase the share capital in order to support the entering into the Entire Business Transfer and reserve shares for the exercise of the warrant conversion by the Managing director of the Company from Baht 286,185,451 to Baht 441,500,555 totaling 441,500,555 shares by issuing new 155,315,104 common shares at a par value of Baht 1 per share. The Company has already registered with Department of business Development, Ministry of Commerce on April 29, 2011.

At the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on April 24, 2009, the shareholders had unanimously approved to increase the share capital in order to support the exercise of warrants conversion by the Managing director of the Company from Baht 281,850,000 to Baht 286,850,000, totaling 286,850,000 shares by issuing new 5,000,000 common shares at a par value of Baht 1 per share. The Company has already registered with Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on May 7, 2009. 


Reconciliation in the number of ordinary shares

	
	In Thousand shares

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at June

30, 2011
	
	As at December

 31, 2010
	
	As at June

30, 2011
	
	As at December

 31, 2010

	Registered ordinary shares 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the period
	286,850
	
	286,850
	
	286,850
	
	286,850

	Increase (Decrease) in share captital
	154,651
	
	-
	
	154,651
	
	-

	Number of ordinary shares at the end of the period
	441,501
	
	286,850
	
	441,501
	
	286,850

	
	

	Issued and paid-up share capital
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the period
	281,185
	
	243,677
	
	281,185
	
	243,677

	Increase (Decrease) in share captital
	155,116
	
	-
	
	155,116
	
	-

	Increase in number of ordinary shares due to 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
exercise of warrants
	2,000
	
	37,508
	
	2,000
	
	37,508

	Number of ordinary shares at the end of the period
	438,301
	
	281,185
	
	438,301
	
	281,185




The ordinary shares arising from the exercising of warrants were registered with the Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce, on March 9, 2011.


The unpaid registered ordinary shares that were reserved for the exercise of warrants to purchase 
ordinary shares are mentioned in Note 25 to the interim financial statements.
23.
DIVIDENDS PAID



 On April 25, 2011, the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders passed the following resolution:


The payment of a dividend to shareholders for the earnings of year 2010, the list of the shareholders eligible for dividend payment was set on May 9, 2011. The book closing date was scheduled on May 10, 2011. The dividend was approved in total of 283,185,451 shares at Baht 0.45 per share (Baht 127.43 million). The dividend payment was scheduled on May 20,  2011.


On April 23, 2010, the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders passed the following resolution:



The payment of a dividend to shareholders for the earnings of year 2009, the list of the shareholders eligible for dividend payment was set on May 6, 2010. The book closing date was scheduled on May 7, 2010. The dividend was approved in total of 255,026,305 shares at Baht 0.33 per share (Baht 84.16 million). The dividend payment was scheduled on May 21, 2010.

24.
STATUTORY RESERVE


Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company and a subsidiary is required to set aside as statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward, (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.



Under the terms of the Civil and Commercial Code, the Company is required to set aside as statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income at each dividend declaration as the statutory reserve until the statutory reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

25.
WARRANTS


At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders, held on April 20, 2007, the shareholders had unanimously passed the following resolutions:

1.
Adopt the resolution of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2005 by approving the issuance of 10,000,000 warrants to be offered to directors, management (non director) and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries under ESOP No. 1 with adjustment on project’s details and approving the allocation of capital increase shares 10,000,000 shares as consented by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2005 to support the warrants above.

2.
Approve the issuance of 54,250,000 units of warrants to be offered to the existing shareholders whose names appear in the share register book on the book closure date, which will be determined after obtaining approval from the Securities and Exchange Commission at a ratio of 4 existing shares per 1 warrant.

At the Board of Directors’ meeting No. 4/2007 of MFEC Public Company Limited, held on September 7, 2007, the following resolutions were reached.

1.
The Company has already obtained SEC approval to issue warrants to the existing shareholders and directors, management (non - director) and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries on August 8, 2007.

2. 
To approve the issue of Warrants to Purchase as follows:-

	Warrant
	
	Issued to
	
	Number of warrants issued
	
	Exercise price

per 1 ordinary 
	
	Exercise ratio
	
	Period of warrant

	Issuance of warrant on August 8, 2007
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
ESOP No.1
	
	Existing director management

 (non - director) 

and employees of

 the Company and

 its subsidiaries
	
	10,000,000
	
	Baht 2 per share
	
	1 : 1
	
	3 years

	
MFEC-W1
	
	Shareholders
	
	54,250,000
	
	Baht 3 per share
	
	1 : 1
	
	3 years


	Offering price 
	:
	Baht 0 per unit 

	Exercise period
	:
	The 1st exercise will begin on February 29, 2008 and the last exercise is on September 23, 2010. 

	Offering period
	:
	Within 1 year after obtaining approval from SEC to issue and offer to sell warrants. 




In 2008, the Company adjusted the exercise ratio and the exercise price in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting passed on April 21, 2008 as follows:-

	Warrant 
	
	Adjusted items
	
	Old
	
	New
	
	Remark

	ESOP No. 1
	
	Exercise ratio
	
	1 warrant to purchase 1 new ordinary share
	
	1 warrant to purchase 1.011 new ordinary shares
	
	Resulting from dividend pay out at 85% which exceeded 80% of the net profit after tax that in turn affecting price and exercise ratio. 

	
	
	Exercise price
	
	Baht 2 per share
	
	Baht 1.979 per share
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	MFEC - W1
	
	Exercise ratio
	
	1 warrant to purchase 1 new ordinary share
	
	1 warrant to purchase 1.011 new ordinary shares
	
	Resulting from dividend pay out at 85% which exceeded 80% of the net profit after tax that in turn affecting price and exercise ratio. 

	
	
	Exercise price
	
	Baht 3 per share
	
	Baht 2.968 per share
	
	




At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders, held on April 24, 2009, the shareholders had unanimously passed the issuance of 5,000,000 warrants to be offered to directors under ESOP No. 2 and approving the allocation of capital increase shares 5,000,000 shares as consented to support the warrants above as follows :- 

	Warrant
	
	Issued to
	
	Number of warrants issued
	
	Exercise price

per 1 ordinary 
	
	Exercise ratio
	
	Period of warrant

	Issuance of warrant on July 24, 2009
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
ESOP No.2
	
	Director 
	
	5,000,000
	
	Baht 4 per share
	
	1 : 1
	
	5 years


	Offering price 
	:
	Baht 0 per unit 

	Exercise period
	:
	The 1st exercise will begin on February 29, 2010 and the last exercise is on September 23, 2015. 

	Offering period
	:
	Within 1 year after obtaining approval from SEC to issue and offer to sell warrants. 




On April 25, 2011, the shareholders had unanimously approved a resolution to adjust the exercise prices and ratios for the remaining warrants for to President. The exercise prices and ratios for new warrant holders as the following :

	
	
	Before amendment
	
	After amendment

	The exercise prices
	
	4 Baht
	
	3.805 Baht

	The exercise ratios
	
	1 : 1 unit
	
	1 : 1.051 unit




Movements of the Company’s warrants during the period are as follows :-
	
	Thousand units

	Warrant
	
	Number of warrants outstanding as at 

December 31, 2010
	
	Number of warrants exercised during

 the period
	
	Number of warrants expired during 

the period
	
	Number of warrants outstanding as at 

June 30, 2011

	ESOP No. 2
	
	5,000
	
	(2,000)
	
	-
	
	3,000

	
	
	5,000
	
	(2,000)
	
	-
	
	3,000


26.
EARNINGS PER SHARE


Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent company for the period by the weighted average number of ordinary shares which are issued during the period and held by outside party.



Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing profit for the period by the aggregate amount of the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued during the period and the weighted average number of ordinary shares which the Company may have to issue for conversion of warrants to ordinary shares for the three-month and six-months periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 as follows :
	

	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the three-month period ended June 30, 
	
	For the three-month period ended June 30, 

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Net income for the period (Thousand Baht)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company
	60,966
	
	20,360
	
	71,693
	
	14,238

	Weighted average number of ordinary  shares (Thousand shares)
	283,185
	
	255,027
	
	283,185
	
	255,027

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares under warrants 
(Thousand shares) 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- ESOP No.1
	-
	
	3,667
	
	-
	
	3,667

	- ESOP No.2
	3,000
	
	5,000
	
	3,000
	
	5,000

	- MFEC-W1 
	-
	
	22,781
	
	-
	
	22,781

	Number of ordinary shares that would have been issued
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   at fair value (Thousand shares)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- ESOP No.1
	-
	
	(1,584)
	
	-
	
	(1,584)

	- ESOP No.2
	(2,428)
	
	(4,367)
	
	(2,428)
	
	(4,367)

	- MFEC-W1 
	-
	
	(14,763)
	
	-
	
	(14,763)

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares plus 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	effect of assumed conversion (Thousand shares)
	283,757
	
	265,761
	
	283,757
	
	265,761

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic earnings per share of the parent company 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Profit for the period (Baht per share)
	0.22
	
	0.08
	
	0.25
	
	0.06

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Diluted earnings per share of the parent company 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Profit for the period (Baht per share)
	0.21
	
	0.08
	
	0.25
	
	0.05


	

	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,
	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	Net income for the period (Thousand Baht)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company
	81,778
	
	41,732
	
	91,294
	
	34,011

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Thousand shares)
	282,578
	
	251,515
	
	282,578
	
	251,515

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares under  warrants

  (Thousand shares) 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- ESOP No.1
	-
	
	4,521
	
	-
	
	4,521

	- ESOP No.2
	3,607
	
	5,000
	
	3,607
	
	5,000

	- MFEC-W1 
	-
	
	25,401
	
	-
	
	25,401

	Number of ordinary shares that would have been issued
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   at fair value (Thousand shares)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- ESOP No.1
	-
	
	(1,953)
	
	-
	
	(1,953)

	- ESOP No.2
	(2,836)
	
	(4,367)
	
	(2,836)
	
	(4,367)

	- MFEC-W1 
	-
	
	(16,460)
	
	-
	
	(16,460)

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares plus 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	effect of assumed conversion (Thousand shares)
	283,349
	
	263,657
	
	283,349
	
	263,657

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic earnings per share of the parent company 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net income (Baht per share)
	0.29
	
	0.17
	
	0.32
	
	0.14

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Diluted earnings per share of the parent company 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net income (Baht per share)
	0.29
	
	0.16
	
	0.32
	
	0.13


27.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY SEGMENT



The business operations of the Company and its subsidiaries involve three principal segments which are mainly carried on in a single geographic area in Thailand. Business segment financial information for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 are presented as follows: 

	
	 Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement 

	
	For the three-month period ended June 30,

	
	System
	
	Trading
	
	Program
	
	Elimination 
	
	

	
	implementation
	
	computer
	
	development
	
	
	
	Total

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	External revenue
	823
	
	339
	
	148
	
	133
	
	77
	
	48
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,048
	
	520

	Inter-segment revenues
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1
	
	-
	
	(1)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Total revenues
	823
	
	339
	
	148
	
	133
	
	78
	
	48
	
	(1)
	
	-
	
	1,048
	
	520

	Segment income
	148
	
	80
	
	19
	
	17
	
	21
	
	13
	
	-
	
	-
	
	188
	
	110

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	28
	
	12

	
Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(26)
	
	(22)

	
Administrative expenses 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(102)
	
	(77)

	
Financial costs 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(7)
	
	(3)

	
Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(20)
	
	2

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	61
	
	22

	Other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	61
	
	22


	
	 Million Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement 

	
	For the three-month period ended June 30,

	
	System
	
	Trading
	
	Program
	
	Elimination 
	
	

	
	implementation
	
	computer
	
	development
	
	
	
	Total

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	External revenue
	813
	
	326
	
	-
	
	-
	
	25
	
	44
	
	-
	
	-
	
	838
	
	370

	Total revenues
	813
	
	326
	
	-
	
	-
	
	25
	
	44
	
	-
	
	-
	
	838
	
	370

	Segment income
	145
	
	73
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	9
	
	-
	
	-
	
	145
	
	82

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	48
	
	11

	
Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(18)
	
	(16)

	
Administrative expenses 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(80)
	
	(65)

	
Financial costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(6)
	
	(2)

	
Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(18)
	
	4

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	71
	
	14

	Other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	71
	
	14

	
	 Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement 

	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,

	
	System
	
	Trading
	
	Program
	
	Elimination 
	
	

	
	implementation
	
	computer
	
	development
	
	
	
	Total

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	External revenue
	1,420
	
	880
	
	266
	
	264
	
	100
	
	96
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,786
	
	1,240

	Inter-segment revenues
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2
	
	2
	
	(2)
	
	(2)
	
	-
	
	-

	Total revenues
	1,420
	
	880
	
	266
	
	264
	
	102
	
	98
	
	(2)
	
	(2)
	
	1,786
	
	1,240

	Segment income
	263
	
	165
	
	35
	
	39
	
	24
	
	29
	
	-
	
	-
	
	322
	
	233

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	39
	
	23

	
Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(44)
	
	(44)

	
Administrative expenses 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(197)
	
	(162)

	
Financial costs 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(11)
	
	(6)

	
Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(27)
	
	(2)

	Profit fee the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	82
	
	42

	Other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	82
	
	42

	Leasehold improvements and 
equipment as at June 30, 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	157
	
	73

	Other assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,494
	
	1,849

	Total assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,651
	
	1,922


	
	 Million Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement 

	
	For the six-month periods ended June 30,

	
	System
	
	Trading
	
	Program
	
	Elimination 
	
	

	
	implementation
	
	computer
	
	development
	
	
	
	Total

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	External revenue
	1,398
	
	853
	
	-
	
	-
	
	46
	
	90
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,444
	
	943

	Total revenues
	1,398
	
	853
	
	-
	
	-
	
	46
	
	90
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,444
	
	943

	Segment income
	255
	
	153
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3
	
	22
	
	-
	
	-
	
	258
	
	175

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	59
	
	27

	
Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(31)
	
	(30)

	
Administrative expenses 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(161)
	
	(133)

	
Financial costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(10)
	
	(5)

	
Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(24)
	
	-

	Profit fee the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	91
	
	34

	Other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	91
	
	34

	Leasehold improvements and 

equipment as at June 30,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	95
	
	69

	Other  assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,242
	
	1,672

	Total assets 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,337
	
	1,741




Transfer prices between business segment are as set out in Note 6 to the interim financial statements.

28.
PROMOTIONAL PRIVILEGES

The Company’s results of operations classified by the promoted and non-promoted activities for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:-
	
	Consolidated Financial statement (In Thousand Baht)

	
	For the three-month period ended June 30,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	52,399
	
	30,954
	
	818,505
	
	339,117
	
	870,904
	
	370,071


	
	The Company Only (In Thousand Baht)

	
	For the three-month period ended June 30,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	34,739
	
	30,954
	
	802,566
	
	339,117
	
	837,305
	
	370,071


	
	Consolidated Financial statement (In Thousand Baht)

	
	For the six-month period ended June 30,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	99,730
	
	53,993
	
	1,377,658
	
	889,451
	
	1,477,388
	
	943,444


	
	The Company Only (In Thousand Baht)

	
	For the six-month period ended June 30,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010
	
	2011
	
	2010

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	82,070
	
	53,993
	
	1,361,719
	
	889,451
	
	1,443,789
	
	943,444


29.
PROVIDENT FUND



The Company, the subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund as 
approved by the Ministry of Finance in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530.  The fund is 
contributed by the Company, the subsidiaries and their employees at the rate of 3 - 7 percent of their basic 
salaries. The fund is managed by TISCO Asset Management Company Limited and will be paid to 
employees upon termination of employment in accordance with the rules of the provident fund. 



The Company and subsidiaries’s contributions for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 amounted to Baht 4.37 million and Baht 3.73 million, respectively and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 amounted to Baht 8.47 million and Baht 7.42 million, respectively.



The Company’s contributions for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 amounted to Baht 3.85 million and Baht 3.54million, respectively and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 amounted to Baht 7.67 million and Baht 7.04 million, respectively.
30.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES


30.1
Bank guarantees



As at June 30, 2011, there were outstanding bank guarantees issued by the bank on behalf of the Company of Baht 35.66 million (December 31, 2010: Baht 316.90 million) and on behalf of the subsidiaries of Baht 33.40 million (December 31, 2010: Baht 11.34 million) in respect of certain performance obligations required in the normal course of business of the Company and its subsidiaries.



30.2
Commitments



30.2.1
As at June 30, 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries had commitments in respect of






office rental agreements. Future rental payments are as follows:

	
	Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial Statement

	Payable within:
	
	
	

	2011
	14.09
	
	7.25

	2012
	12.69
	
	6.33





Such amount includes commitment by the Company and its subsidiaries to the related company in the amount of Baht 11.73 million. 

30.2.2
As at June 30, 2011, the Company had commitments in respect of application software to be paid in amount of Baht 2.05 million.


30.3
Credit card facility

As at June 30, 2011, the Company had a credit card facility of Baht 1 million with a local bank for import of goods.

30.4
Letter of guarantee credit


A subsidiary has the credit limit under the letter of guarantee with a local commercial bank 
in the credit of Baht 7 million, which are secured by land and buildings of the Company and 
directors.


30.5
Guarantees

As at June 30, 2011, the Company had outstanding obligations in respect of guarantees on the subsidiaries’ credit facilities as follows: 

	
	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	
	Credit line
	
	Letter of

	Subsidiaries
	
	Overdraft
	
	guarantee

	4Bizinet Company Limited
	
	-
	
	1.18

	Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	
	3.00
	
	-

	
	
	3.00
	
	1.18





As at June 30, 2011, a subsidiary has outstanding obligations in respect for guarantees on its 

related company of Baht 0.62 million for letter of guarantees issue by bank.

30.6
Cancellation of agreement




On June 7, 2010, a governmental client cancelled the buy-sell and installation of system development agreement, dated September 1, 2008, in the amount per agreement of Baht 326.99 million. (The project is undertaken by a group of working team, under a specific agreement. The proportion of works to be performed by the parties are clearly specified. For the investment in this project, the Company has invested in a part of computer system installation in amount of Baht 113.79 million of agreement and the process of installations was completed.) The cancellation was referred that the Company could not installation and developing the system to client within time as specified by agreement.
        

But the opinion of the management is that the client does not have right to cancel the agreement. The buy-sell and installation of work system agreement is still obligated. The cancellation of the agreement of the client is an action to prevent the delivery of work to client within the time as specified by agreement, including an order to take the hardware back. It deems to be a violation of agreement by the client. 

        

So that, the Company use the right to cancel the buy-sell and installation of work system agreement as letter on October 14, 2010.



The such issue is in process of discussion between both parties, the management believe that the discussion will achieve the mutual benefit and appropriate and fair to both parties.

31.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management and policies

The Company and its subsidiaries’ financial instruments principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, loans, receivable under finance lease agreement, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions and trust receipts. The financial risks 
associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed are described below. 


Credit risk


The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable and receivable under finance lease agreement. The Company and its subsidiaries manage the risk by adopting appropriate credit 
control policies and procedures and therefore do not expect to incur material financial losses. In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries do not have high concentration of credit risk since they have a large customer base. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of receivables as stated in the statements of financial position.

Interest rate risk


The exposure of the Company and its subsidiaries to interest rate risk relates primarily to their cash at banks, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions trust receipts and liabilities under finance lease agreements long - term loans. However, since most of their financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal. 


Significant financial assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2011 classified by type of interest rates are summarized as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	Balance as at  June 30, 2011

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	
	
	

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	12,029
	
	406
	
	60,425
	
	72,860

	Receivable under finance lease agreement
	
	-
	
	273,061
	
	-
	
	273,061

	Long-term loans to relates parties 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	9,920
	
	9,920

	Pledged deposits at financial institutions
	
	43,664
	
	-
	
	-
	
	43,664

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   from financial institutions
	
	465,084
	
	-
	
	-
	
	465,084

	Trust receipts
	
	176,700
	
	-
	
	-
	
	176,700

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	
	-
	
	4,163
	
	-
	
	4,163

	Long-term loans
	
	97,211
	
	-
	
	-
	
	97,211

	
	
	

	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	Balance as at  June 30, 2011

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	
	
	

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	33,515
	
	-
	
	11,733
	
	45,248

	Receivable under finance lease agreement
	
	-
	
	273,061
	
	-
	
	273,061

	Short-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	6,070
	
	-
	
	-
	
	6,070

	Long-term loans to relates parties
	
	-
	
	-
	
	9,920
	
	9,920

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   from financial institutions
	
	379,258
	
	-
	
	-
	
	379,258

	Trust receipts
	
	176,700
	
	-
	
	-
	
	176,700

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	
	-
	
	2,119
	
	-
	
	2,119

	Long-term loans
	
	97,059
	
	-
	
	-
	
	97,059




Foreign currency risk




The exposure of the Company and its subsidiaries to foreign currency risk relates primarily to its 
trade accounts payable that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company and its subsidiaries 
utilizes forward exchange contracts, mostly with maturities of no more than one year, in order to hedge 
the foreign currency risk related to these payables.



As at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries have assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are as follows :- 

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010

	The value of foreign currency assets

- USD
	
	USD
	 1,003 thousand
	
	USD
	 1,063 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities 
- USD
	
	USD
	4,374 thousand
	
	USD
	2,867 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities

- SGD
	
	SGD
	100 thousand
	
	SGD
	
   421 thousand


	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	As at June 30, 2011
	
	As at December 31, 2010

	The value of foreign currency assets

- USD
	
	USD
	 1,003 thousand
	
	USD
	1,063 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities
- USD
	
	USD
	3,898 thousand
	
	USD
	2,861 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities

- SGD
	
	 SGD
	100 thousand
	
	SGD
	
  421  thousand



As at June 30, 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries have forward exchange contracts of USD 12,074 thousand (The Company : USD 12,074 thousand) with the exchange rates of Baht 30.285 to Baht 31.100 per USD 1, to be mature within 1 - 6 months.



Fair value


A fair value is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged or a liability settled between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value is determined by reference to 
the latest market price or by using an appropriate valuation basis, depending on the nature of the instrument. 



Since the majority of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries are short-term in nature, their fair values are not expected to differ materially from the amounts presented in the statements of financial position. 

32.
DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS



In the second quarter 2010, the Company’s Board of directors meeting No. 2/2010 , held on May 12, 2010, the boards approved  to sell all ordinary shares  of  the 4Bizinet  Company Limited in the number of 2,958,000 shares  to directors of 4Bizinet Company Limited and the Company transferred  the such ordinary  shares on May 31, 2010. As a result, the Company ceased of control and changed the status of such company to non-subsidiary as selling of investment.
33.
INCOME TAX



Corporate income tax of the Company is calculated on net income of the non-promoted activity after adding back certain expenses and allowances which are forbidden expenses in tax computation at the rate of 30 percent. Since 2004  to 2008 for a period of 5 years at the rate of 25 percent from profit under Baht 300 million, at the rate of 30 percent from profit over Baht 300 million.



Corporate income tax of the Company for the year 2009 to 2010 is calculated by multiplying earning by the rate 25 percent from profit under Baht 300 million. The tax rates applied are in compliance with the provision of Royal Decree 475 (B.E. 2551) dated July 29, 2008, issued under the Revenue Code, regarding the reduction of income tax rates.



The second quarter of 2011, the reconciliation between accounting profit and taxable profit are significant such as Tax privilege - BOI amounted to Baht 12.59 million dividend income Baht 22.45 million and other reconciliation amounted to Baht 4.42 million.


Corporate income tax of the other six subsidiaries is calculated based from net income for the years adjusted by the items defined or non-taxable income and expense at 30 percent.    


Corporate income tax for seven subsidiary is calculated based from net income for the years adjusted by the items defined or non-taxable income and expense at 30 percent.  From January 1, 2008 onwards, a company or partnership with paid up capital less than Baht 5 million is given tax reduction to calculate tax at the following rates.
	Profit before income tax expenses (Baht)
	Rate

	        1 - 150,000
	exempted

	        150,001 - 1,000,000
	15 %

	        1,000,001 - 3,000,000
	25 %

	        More than  3,000,000
	30 %


34.
RECLASSIFICATION


Certain amounts in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s classification but with no effect to previously reported profit for period or shareholders’ equity. The reclassifications are as follow:

	
	In Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As reclassified
	
	As previously

reported
	
	As reclassified
	
	As previously

reported

	The statements of financial position as at December 31, 2010
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Work in process and prepaid cost of service - net
	677,366
	
	-
	
	662,185
	
	-

	Costs of works pending installation - net
	-
	
	448,140
	
	-
	
	434,807

	Work in process
	-
	
	141,166
	
	-
	
	141,166

	Prepaid cost of services
	-
	
	88,060
	
	-
	
	86,212


35.
AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


These financial statements have been approved by the Company’s Board of Director on August 10, 2011.
